IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

F - H SID J. WHITE 1993)AUG 4 CLERK. SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

CITY OF MELBOURNE, a municipal corporation in the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

Case No. 81,652

-vs-

JOSEPH ALBERT PUMA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

REINMAN, HARRELL, GRAHAM, MITCHELL & WATTWOOD, P.A. 1825 South Riverview Drive Melbourne, Florida 32901 Telephone: (407) 724-4450

PAUL R. GOUGELMAN, Florida Bar No. 316423 MICHAEL R. RIEMENSCHNEIDER Florida Bar No. 613762

Attorneys for Petitioner

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this case, Petitioner (defendant below), the City of Melbourne, will be referred to as the "City." Respondent (plaintiff below), Joseph Albert Puma, will be referred to alternatively as "Mr. Puma." Each page in the record will be referenced to as ("R:____"), and the property subject to this action will be referred to as the "Property."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In light of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Snyder v. Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County</u>, 595 So.2d 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), jurisdiction accepted, 605 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1992), this is a case of first impression in Florida. <u>Snyder</u> determined that the act of site specific rezoning is a quasi-judicial function. The effect of the trial court's decision and the Fifth District Court's affirmance in this case is to apply <u>Snyder</u> to site specific amendments to a comprehensive plan, thereby making the act of amending a comprehensive plan a quasi-judicial function.

This case arises from Mr. Puma's request to allow the development of a professional office on the Property. At trial semantical differences as to the issues surfaced. Mr. Puma claimed that he sought an order to make the zoning consistent with what he believed the City's Comprehensive Plan permitted.

The City's position was that Mr. Puma sought a site specific amendment to the land use designation in the Comprehensive Plan

Future Land Use Element. The trial court's amended order on rehearing indicates that the trial court accepted the City's position (R: 491-492).

The City Council denied the request for a change of the Comprehensive Plan land use designation, and a complaint was filed. The following occurred:

1) November 27, 1991: Circuit Court Judge Jere E. Lober found that the City Council's decision denying the change of land use was fairly debatable and substantially related to the promotion of the public health, safety, and welfare (R: 463-467).

2) Rehearing was requested by Mr. Puma (R: 473-477).

3) December 12, 1991: The Fifth District Court of Appeal filed its opinion in <u>Snyder</u>.

4) March 23, 1992: On rehearing Judge Lober reversed his earlier ruling based on <u>Snyder</u> (R: 483-484). The court ruled that the "rezoning" matter should be remanded to the City Council for fact finding and an evidentiary hearing pursuant to <u>Snyder</u>.

5) April 22, 1992: The City appealed (R: 485-486).

6) May 13, 1992: After the Fifth District Court of Appeal temporarily relinquished jurisdiction (R: 490), the trial court entered an amended order on rehearing (R: 491-492) to reflect that the case related to a change of land use designation on the Future Land Use ("FLU") Map of the City's Comprehensive Plan and not rezoning.

7) April 9, 1993: The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed per curiam, citing only to its opinion in <u>Snyder</u> and to

one of <u>Snyder</u>'s progeny.

8) July 9, 1993: This case was accepted for review by the Supreme Court without oral argument. As of the date of this brief, the Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Snyder</u> has not been filed, the Court having heard oral argument on March 1, 1993.

FACTS

The Property is located in the northern part of the City adjacent to U.S. 1 and Horse Creek. It has close to 1000 feet of frontage on Horse Creek which constitutes the north and west boundaries of the Property (R: 27). The Property has a boundary of about 600 feet running along the South side of the property, and a boundary of about 330 feet on U.S. 1 (R: 27).

A. <u>Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designation</u>: The Comprehensive Plan FLU Map, which is part of the record,¹ shows that the Property is designated as Low Density Residential.² Property to the North and West of the Property and across Horse Creek is also designated as Low Density Residential. The property across U.S. 1 and to the East/Northeast of the Property is designated as Commercial and to the East/Southeast is designated Low Density Residential. To the South of the Property the land use designation is Mixed Use which allows Medium Density

<u>See</u> Defendant's Exhibit #1.

1

² Low Density Residential permits up to 6 units per acre (R: 161).

Residential³ and Commercial usage (R: 30-34).

B. <u>Zoning Designation</u>: The Property is zoned "R-1A," permitting single-family residential use (R: 188). The land immediately to the South of the Property is zoned "C-P" or "Parkway Commercial" and has a strip shopping center on it (R: 33). Land to the Southwest of the Property is zoned "R-2," which permits multi-family residential use (R: 33). That land is currently vacant (R: 33).

The land to the North and Northwest across Horse Creek consists of Grandview Shores, an old single-family subdivision (R: 33-34). Land across Horse Creek on the westside of U.S. 1, North of the Property, is zoned for professional office purposes with an office building on it (R: 32).

Directly East/Northeast of the Property and across U.S.1 from the Property, the land has been zoned for Commercial use. That land has a small boat sales facility on it (R: 32). Also across U.S. 1 to the east/southeast of the Property (south of the boat sales facility), there is a road leading into a singlefamily subdivision, and on the corner of that property is a service station (R: 32-33).

C. <u>Facts Leading to the Controversy at Bar</u>: Mr. Puma purchased the Property in 1980 for \$74,000.00 (R: 170; 172). The useable size of the Property is 3.9 acres (R: 52-53), according

³ Medium Density Residential includes Low Density Residential and permits 1 to 15 units per acre of residential development. (R: 30-34); <u>See also</u> Future Land Use Element, Melbourne Comprehensive Plan.

to Mr. Puma's planner (R: 27-28). There has been no development on the Property (R: 28; 171). He has made no attempt to sell the Property (R: 171).

According to Peggy Braz, Melbourne's Planning and Zoning Administrator,⁴ the Property was platted in 1956 as a single family residential project (R: 28; 188). In the 1972 zoning plan, the 1972 single family residential zoning classification was placed on the Property, and the zoning has not changed since that time (R: 188).

In 1988, the City adopted its new Comprehensive Plan consistent with Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, and designated the Property in the Comprehensive Plan as Low Density Residential (R: 64). The Comprehensive Plan was subsequently approved by the State of Florida.

In December, 1989, Mr. Puma submitted an application to change the Comprehensive Plan FLU Map designation of the Property from Low Density Residential to Commercial (R: 357-358), subject to volunteered restrictions on the use of the Property (<u>ie.</u>property to be used only for a one-story office building) (R: 129-130).

This proposal was recommended by the City staff, and the Planning and Zoning Board/Local Planning Agency accepted the

Ms. Braz's extensive credentials are set forth (R: 186-187).

planning staff's recommendations (R: 49; 148).⁵ When the proposal to amend the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan was presented to the City Council, the City Council on May 22, 1990 voted to deny approval (R: 362-364).

Thereafter, Mr. Puma initiated this case (R: 353-364). The trial court framed the issues to be studied at trial as follows:

1) Whether the . . . Comprehensive Plan Low Density Residential designation . . . [of] the subject Property is contrary to the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan; and

2) If the answer . . . is [no] . . ., the Court would consider whether the City's action in retaining the designation . . . as Low Density Residential in its Land Use element was discriminatory and thus not fairly debatable, . . . (R:156).

D. <u>Planning Considerations Related to the Comprehensive</u> <u>Plan</u>: At trial, Mr. Puma stated it wouldn't make sense to develop the Property with one-family homes. However, he also stated that from a physical standpoint, the Property could be developed as a single-family residential project (R: 171).

Ed Washburn, Mr. Puma's planner, testified that he felt the plat was "destroyed" for two reasons. First, jurisdictional wetlands determinations would make some of the lots undevelopable. Second, the City Fire Department would probably want a bigger cul-de-sac at the end of the road so that fire engines could turn around. This would cause some of the lots to be made smaller in size (R: 52). Nevertheless, he affirmed that

⁵ A copy of the recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Board/Local Planning Agency at their May 10, 1990 meeting is set forth in the record (R: 360-361).

the Property could be developed for single-family residential purposes, that it was physically possible to do so, and that it would not be prohibitively expensive to do so (R: 54).

To do this Mr. Washburn noted that a developer could use a combination of vegetation and berms for buffering from nearby Commercial uses (R: 61). Further, the Property has natural attributes that would help, because it "rises a good way above U.S. 1 and is heavily treed" (R: 61-62).

E. Internal Consistency of the Comprehensive Plan's Land Use Designation with the Comprehensive Plan's Policies: Mr. Washburn testified that the Low Density Residential Comprehensive Plan classification for the Property was not consistent with the rest of the Comprehensive Plan (R: 41-42), because there are no other parcels "on there that are vacant that are shown for low density residential or commercial use" (R: 69).

Mrs. Braz was asked whether, in reviewing the policies of the Comprehensive Plan, the Plan it would be "more" internally consistent for the Property to be designated professional or Commercial, as opposed to Low Density Residential. Mrs. Braz responded "I wouldn't say more consistent. <u>I believe that it is</u> <u>consistent as Low Density Residential</u>, and I believe that it is consistent if its limited to professional. I do not believe that it is in conflict with the current plan to keep that parcel Low Density Residential" (R:160).

Mrs. Braz cited, <u>inter alia</u>, paragraph D on page 2-15 of the Plan's Future Land Use Element which states that the land use

shown on the FLU Map represents the intended use of those areas based on promoting the concept of protecting established and new residential neighborhoods from non-residential intrusion. Further, the Future Land Use Element indicates that establishment of commercial areas is to occur near the Florida East Coast Railway, the Airport or major intersections on U.S. 1. Mrs. Braz noted that the Property was not located adjacent to a major interchange on U.S. 1 (R: 213-215).

Mr. Washburn noted that there is a Comprehensive Plan policy which allows commercial development "along sections of U.S. 1" (R: 71-72). His comments suggested that because the Property is on U.S. 1, it should be designated Commercial and that Low Density Residential was inappropriate.

Mrs. Braz noted that this Comprehensive Plan does not indicate that <u>all</u> of U.S. #1 should automatically be Commercial property (R: 215). She noted that objective 7 of the Future Land Use Element requires the establishment of a "number of roads including U.S. #1 as a scenic parkway. In doing so, it says that you <u>can</u> allow high intensity uses. You <u>can</u> allow commercial office and hotels along these parkways. <u>It doesn't say anything</u> <u>about you've got to do this</u>." (R: 216) (e.s.). She further opined that she completely disagreed with Mr. Washburn's testimony that designation of the property as Low Density Residential was inconsistent with the foregoing policy.

She also believed that it was reasonable for the Property to be designated as single-family residential (R: 195). She based

this opinion on the fact that there was single family residences located to the north of the property, that much of the area is single-family residential in character, and that the trees and vegetation on the Property can probably be maintained if it is single-family or low density in character (R: 195). Designating the Property as Low Density Residential would preserve and protect the integrity of the residential development across Horse Creek (R: 195).

Mrs. Braz noted that low density residential projects <u>are</u> <u>not</u> unsuited for development on major arterials like U.S. 1 (R: 198). She affirmed that during the comprehensive planning process, the City worked long and hard on that issue. She noted that

[i]f you are going to make that statement that singlefamily residential or low density residential or multifamily residential is not compatible with an arterial highway, then you are going to create strips [of commercial usage] over every single arterial highway in the City, and you would not want to do that. We looked at some big cities, some Savannahs, Columbias, Atlantas, and they have major highways, huge highways, six lane highways with single-family residential adjacent to them, some big, beautiful estate type uses. So we made a conscious effort not to designate commercial just because you had a four-lane or arterial highway.

(R: 198-199).

Mr. Washburn stated that the Low Density Residential land use designation on the Property became discriminatory upon the change in the land use designation to Commercial of the parcel to the South of the Property (R: 76). Mrs. Braz stated that it was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan to go from Commercial use

to Low Density Residential without any transitional zoning in between. In fact, that issue is specifically addressed in the Comprehensive Plan. "It indicates when you have such a situation you should have an adequate buffer." (R: 164-165).

Mrs. Braz detailed certain subdivisions within the City that had been recently developed or were presently being developed within the past few years that involved placing low density residential uses immediately adjacent to either a commercial parcel or an arterial highway (R: 203-205). Mrs. Braz cited the Long Point subdivision with ten (10) lots backing up to Wickham Road (R: 203), and East Bay Plantation with lots that back up to Wickham Road (R: 203).

Mr. Washburn agreed that there are a number of subdivisions along collector and arterial roads (R: 59; 66). One of these subdivisions, Sylvan Shores, which is a single-family project is directly across U.S. 1 from the Property (R: 60). Another new project is Madison Riverfront Estates (a/k/a Pineapple Place) which consists of five (5) lots and is located on U.S. 1 and 1800 feet south of the Property (R: 38). Mrs. Braz noted that, in her view, that parcel was quite similar to the Property (R: 227).

In response to a question by the Court, Mrs. Braz noted that up to 24 residential units could be placed on Mr. Puma's Property, according to the Comprehensive Plan land use designation (R: 161-163). Mrs. Braz also stated that there was no prohibition in the Comprehensive Plan against an apartment complex being located next to a commercial property along an

arterial highway (R: 164).

E. <u>Economic Considerations</u>: At trial Mr. Puma stated that he thought the Property was worth somewhat less than what he paid for it (R: 173). However, at a pre-trial deposition Mr. Puma stated that his property had increased in value since the time of the purchase (R: 174).

Mr. Puma also admitted that he had <u>not</u> had the Property appraised in consideration of the Comprehensive Plan land use designation (R: 175). Further, he conceded that at the time he purchased the Property, he was completely unaware of the fact that it was zoned for single-family residential use or that it had been so platted (R: 179).

Robert Houha, Mr. Puma's witness, is an appraiser. The essence of his testimony was that he did not think it was feasible to develop the Property as low density residential (R: 89). Unfortunately for the Respondent, on cross-examination, Mr. Houha admitted that he had not conducted an appraisal of the Property as a single-family project (R: 100). He didn't even know if Mr. Puma had listed the Property for sale as a singlefamily parcel (R: 100). With regard to rezoning, Mr. Houha conceded that he didn't even know the specifics of the Property (R: 102), and that he had no idea whether the Property had been devalued from the price Mr. Puma paid (R: 102).

Dennis Basile, an MAI Appraiser (member of the appraiser institute) who has been in the business since 1972 and was appointed by the Governor to the Florida Real Estate Appraisal

Board,⁶ testified on behalf of the City. The Court recognized him as an expert in the area of real estate appraisal (R: 241). In his expert opinion, the Property could be developed for single family residential use (R: 241-242), and that this was based upon the highest and best use analysis for the Property (R: 242).⁷

Based on the appraisal analysis that he conducted on the Property (R: 243), he stated that the greatest return on the Property would be realized by developing a three lot subdivision (R: 244). The lots would be worth a total of \$107,500.00 (R: 247). He also noted that the project could be adequately buffered from U.S. 1 and adjacent commercial uses (R: 255).

He opined that keeping the Property designated as Low Density Residential would act to preserve and protect the residential integrity of the neighborhood to the north (R: 256). One reason to preserve the residential use of the Property is based on the failure of the Commercial use of the land immediately to the North and South along U.S. 1. The Commercial property to the South has been used for approximately three years as a strip shopping center and <u>never</u> achieved an established occupancy (R: 257). The shopping center has gone into foreclosure and is currently owned by a bank (R: 258-259).

With regard to the land to the North on U.S. 1 across Horse

⁶ (R: 237-239).

⁷ For an excellent description of what is included in the highest and best use analysis, <u>see</u> (R: 242-243).

Creek, it is used as an office building. Seven years old, it has never achieved a full established occupancy (R: 260). Two years ago, it was completely vacant, and the owner unsuccessfully attempted to lease or sell it (R: 260). An auction was held prior to trial, and only one very low offer was received (R: 260-261). More recently, the building was finally sold for \$250,000.00, \$100,000 below its listed price (R: 261).

Based on the foregoing, the Court entered its November, 1991 order in favor of the City finding the City's decision to deny the change of land use on the Comprehensive Plan FLU Map to be fairly debatable and bearing a substantial relationship to the public health, safety, and welfare (R: 467-472).

Mr. Puma sought rehearing (R: 473-477). It was Mr. Puma's position that "the future land use map did not reflect the zoning as outlined in the comprehensive plan" (R: 317). The trial court noted that that contention had been rejected (R: 317). The trial court further noted that a finding had been made that the FLU Map, was part of the Comprehensive Plan, and that it was consistent with the written mandates of the Plan (R: 318).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's recent opinion in <u>Snyder v. Brevard County</u> was argued at the rehearing. The City maintained that the case was not applicable to Comprehensive Plan FLU Map applications, and that such changes are essentially legislative in nature (R: 325). In part this is because Comprehensive Plan land use mapping represents a City policy decision (R: 326-327).

Counsel for the City objected to the fact that at this late date raising the issue that this case should be tried as a quasijudicial case based on <u>Snyder</u> is improper, because the particular action that Mr. Puma filed was an action for an injunction (R: 329). Mr. Puma selected the matter of trying the case <u>de novo</u>, which clearly is a legislative type of action (R: 329).

The court attempted to clarify what the trial had involved, an application to amend the FLU Map in the Comprehensive Plan (R: 333). It was Mr. Puma's contention that the Planning Board had been asked to state that the Property should have been zoned professional or commercial in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan. Mr. Puma maintained that he had not asked that the Comprehensive Plan be amended. He asked that the zoning of the Property be amended to conform to the Comprehensive Plan, which was Commercial (R: 333).

Mr. Puma's position was that he did not consider the proceeding as being an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan (R: 335). Mr. Puma's counsel noted that

[t]he Comprehensive Plan says that everything on arterial highways should be commercial -- that's the Comprehensive Plan. Then they adopted a Future Land Use Map, which merely continued what had been there before. But that Future Land Use Map was at variance with the Comprehensive Plan.

(R:336). Judge Lober noted that he had earlier determined just the opposite (R: 336).

The City noted that if the court ruled that <u>Snyder</u> was applicable and that land use map amendments were quasi-judicial, then the City had been prejudiced by the way the case had proceeded. The court agreed (R: 345), noting that several days had been spent going through the entire case, hearing testimony, not including pre-trial hearings and motions. The trial court therefore ruled that the case should be remanded to the City Council for an evidentiary hearing together with findings of fact, all in light of <u>Snyder</u> (R: 347-349). The trial court also noted that "the actions of the City are not in violation of the Comprehensive Plan" (R: 350).

The case was then appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal which affirmed. <u>City of Melbourne v. Puma</u>, 616 So.2d 190 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The City's position is that based on the wording of <u>Snyder</u>, it was not intended to be applicable to land use amendment proceedings. Further, it makes no sense to do so, because all land use amendments are nothing more than a change of policy, and policy is legislative in nature.

If the Court believes that <u>Snyder</u> is applicable to land use proceedings, since <u>Snyder</u> is based on Oregon caselaw, Oregon case law must be further explored. Oregon case law now recognizes that whether a proceeding is quasi-judicial is not based on judicial opinion but statute. Applying that notion to Florida law, Chapters 163 and 166, Florida Statutes, unequivocally recognize that <u>all</u> comprehensive plan amendment proceedings are legislative and subject to the fairly debatable rule.

From the standpoint of good judicial policy, the City points

to a number of reasons why it doesn't make sense to apply <u>Snyder</u> to any comprehensive plan land use amendments. The City cites the chaos caused in Oregon by using the quasi-judicial approach, application of Florida's <u>Jennings</u> rule which cuts off public participation, problems that the public will have in preserving its legal rights, and the fact that the potential right to pass comprehensive plan amendments by referendum would be cut off.

Finally, if <u>Snyder</u> is applicable to land use map amendments, review should have been in the circuit court by certiorari. However, the Respondent through its complaint for injunctive relief and based on argument in the lower court invited the error, and the case should have been considered <u>de novo</u> and tried by consent.

ARGUMENT

Ι

HOW THE TRIAL AND APPELLATE COURTS CONCLUDED THAT <u>SNYDER</u> IS APPLICABLE TO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS

The appellate court's per curiam affirmance citing only to <u>Snyder v. Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County</u>, 595 So.2d 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) and <u>ABG Real Estate Development Co.</u> <u>of Florida, Inc. v. St. Johns County</u>, 608 So.2d 59 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), leaves some question as to the basis upon which the lower court concluded that comprehensive plan amendments are quasijudicial. <u>City of Melbourne v. Puma</u>, 616 So.2d 190 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

How did the <u>Snyder</u> rezoning case ever become authority for the proposition that site specific comprehensive plan amendments are quasi-judicial in nature? The answer is based on two passages from the <u>Snyder</u> opinion. The first quote states:

While enactments of general comprehensive zoning (1)and planning ordinances and maps, and amendments thereto of broad general application, constitute legislative action establishing rules of law of general application; subsequent governmental action which in substance involves the proper application of the previously enacted general rule of law to a particular instance (i.e., a specific parcel of privately owned land under then existing conditions), regardless of the form in which presented (i.e., whether involving a petition for rezoning, for a special exception, for conditional use permit, for a variance, for a site plan approval, or whatever) does not constitute legislative action requiring judicial deferential review as to reasonableness under the powers clause of the state constitution (Art. II, §3, Fla. Const.) and the separation of powers doctrine of the United States Constitution.

Snyder, at 80 (e.s.).

The second quote states:

The initial burden is upon the landowner to demonstrate that his petition or application for use of privately owned lands, (rezoning, special exception, conditional use permit, variance, site plan approval, <u>etc.</u>) complies with reasonable procedural requirements of the ordinance and that the use sought is consistent with the applicable comprehensive plan.

<u>Snyder</u>, at 81 (e.s.; footnote omitted).

Both the trial and appellate courts in the case at bar have seized on the laundry list of development permits (rezoning, special exception, conditional use, variance, site plan approval, etc.) as authority for the proposition that site specific comprehensive plan amendments are to be accomplished through quasi-judicial proceedings. The laundry list of development permits is nothing more than <u>obiter dictum</u>, since <u>Snyder</u> was a rezoning case.

Respectfully, the City maintains that defining words such as

"etc." and "or whatever" to refer to comprehensive plan amendments, without more, is a perilous over-expansion of the concepts in <u>Snyder</u>. Yet, that is exactly what the appellate and trial courts did. After considering the foregoing quote with the "whatever" language in it, the trial court stated:

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