IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,652

CITY OF MELBOURNE, a municipal corporation in the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

• ,

JOSEPH ALBERT PUMA,

Respondent./

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RALPH GEILICH FL BAR #0028140 703 East New Haven Avenue Post Office Box 820 Melbourne, FL 32902-0820

(407) 723-8212

Attorney for Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

.

.

.

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

ARGUMENT

This action, <u>in fact</u>, involved a request to change the zoning of a specific parcel to make the zoning <u>consistent</u> with the Comprehensive Plan. The policy of the City as to zoning on arterial highways had been well defined and Puma did not seek a

change in that policy.

Whether or not, Puma was entitled to that relief, was determined properly by the Local Planning Agency, and unless the City Council, could find the Agency's findings were not supported by the evidence, it had to accept its findings or state why it did not, as directed by the Circuit Court.

The City's claim that its policy making authority has been endangered by the decision in this is without merit, because the City and the Amicus Curiae parties have overlooked the part played by the Local Planning Agency.

Ι.

THE PUBLIC'S RIGHT TO PARTICIPATION IN THE PLANNING PROCESS WAS NOT ENDANGERED BY THE DECISION IN THIS ACTION.

The City paints a doleful picture of how "interested citizens" are deprived of their rights by the decision in <u>Snyder</u> and in this action. It claims that the City Council agendas are not designed to allow proper presentation of the facts by the public. City Brief, Pgs. 39-41.

We agree that the City Council should not hold hearings and take testimony as to site specific amendments to the Comprehensive Plan and we do not believe the Legislature ever intended for the City Council to do so. That is the responsibility of the Local Planning Agency.

The Legislature gave that responsibility to the Local Planning Agency. It provided that:

- Specifically, the LPA shall be responsible to make recommendations regarding plan amendments.
- 2. Before making any recommendation to the governing body, the LPA shall hold at least one public

hearing with due public notice. Sec. 163.3174, (4a) Fla. Stat. 1992.

Are we imposing an undue burden on a small property owner of a specific parcel, seeking to use his property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, if we require him:

- To present witnesses and experts at a public hearing before the Local Planning Agency? The Statute mandates that the LPA has general responsibility for the conduct of the Comprehensive Planning program. Sec. 163.3174 Fla. Stat. 1992.
- 2. Since the local governing body has the right to ignore the recommendation of the LPA (as claimed by the City) present all his witnesses and experts again at a public hearing before the local governing body, and hope that the latter will give him enough time on its busy agenda to properly present his case; and
- 3. If the local governing body, after counting the electors, pro and con before it, arbitrarily discriminates against the property owner, is the property owner left without a remedy because the local governing body was making a "policy" decision?

For decades, since the birth of zoning laws in the early part of this century, frequently owners have had to fight against political pressure to establish their property rights. Many were deprived of the proper use of their property by bromides such as "debatable question" or "spot zoning".

Comprehensive Planning was designed to bring order out of chaos. Property owners would have established rights under the Comprehensive Plan. If a projected use was consistent with the Plan, no longer did the owner have to fear uncertain decisions handed down by a political body.

Snyder does not curtail the rights of either the

general public or the property owner. The City claims:

"If the general public, let alone a property owner/developer or city or county commission, does not know with certainty <u>in advance</u> of a hearing whether the proceeding will be classified as quasi-judicial or legislative, the result could be chaotic. Property owner/developers, the general public, environmental groups, and others, many of whom have limited funds, will not know in advance whether to hire expert witnesses and make a trialtype record, as required in a quasi-judicial hearing." (City Brief, Pg. 36).

<u>Snyder</u> eliminates the "chaotic" predicament envisaged by the City. Everyone will know in advance - be prepared at the public hearing before the Local Planning Board to present your case and make a trial-type record. And if the LPA makes findings of fact, as required, be prepared before the local governing body to <u>argue</u> whether the evidence supports or does not support those findings.

What could be simpler or more just for both the property owner and the general public?

II.

THE ACTION OF THE CITY IN REFUSING TO REZONE APPELLEE'S PROPERTY WAS GROSS DISCRIMINATION.

This Court now has the task of determining the procedure to be followed in seeking relief from zoning decisions. The City requests that this Court reinstate the Trial Court's original November, 1991 judgment which held that there was a debatable question and the City action in denying a zoning change had to be affirmed. (City Brief, P. 44).

Appellee knows of no precedent for an Appellate Court to reinstate a judgment where the Trial Court has granted a rehearing as to its own judgment by rendering a new decision and directing the City to hold an evidentiary hearing.

Whether this Court affirms or reverses <u>Snyder</u>, the fact remains that whatever procedure is determined to be correct, Puma was discriminated against by the arbitrary action of the City Council in denying him the same use of his property as enjoyed by neighboring owners.

What basis did the City Council have to reject the recommendation and findings of the LPA? One witness appeared before it. Sara Stern, a resident of Grandview Shores, the old residential development north of Horse Creek, appeared and .made "statements". She stated "Horse Creek is environmentally sensitive". She claimed runoff from paved parking areas will cause the Creek to become closed. The LPA found that there was no evidence that the environment would be adversely affected. (Complaint, Ex. "C").

On such unsupported statements, the City Council rejected the application. When we consider that the City allowed a shopping center to be built abutting Puma's property, that multi-family buildings can be built abutting the westerly side of his property, that his property is on heavily traveled U.S. 1, that the other three corners of Horse Creek and U.S. 1 are commercially used, what rational conclusion can there be but that the City was guilty of gross discrimination against him.

We agree with the Amicus Florida League of Cities that the "integration of principles of planning law and traditional zoning law has caused confusion in the courts and among practitioners." The League believes this Court can clarify the confusion in this appeal. (League Brief, P. 1).

There is a simple solution! Elective governing bodies

should not be allowed to determine the rights of a <u>particular</u> property owner.

We now have comprehensive planning. The local governing body adopts a comprehensive plan. It defines proper in general areas - all to further the common good. For use along busy arterial highways, commercial is use example, each In adopting the plan, it cannot examine permitted. individual parcel to determine if its zoning is consistent with the general plan. Zoning maps quickly can become obsolete in а fast growing state such as Florida.

The individual property owner suddenly finds himself with a property that no longer can be used under the original zoning classification but could be used advantageously if the property were rezoned to be consistent with the general comprehensive plan. He applies to the municipality - call it whatever you like - an amendment to the plan or a change of zoning - what difference does the terminology make to the single property owner?

He appears before the Local Planning Agency and a public hearing is held. Is the proposed use consistent with the Comprehensive Plan? Evidence is presented - witnesses are heard and the LPA makes findings of fact. Everyone has had his day in Court! The LPA make its recommendation.

At this point should the procedure be any different than with any other type of litigation? A trial has been had and a decision made. Should the property owner be subjected to a new trial? An appellate court does not retry the case. Why should

the local governing body? It should review the findings of the LPA and determine if they are substantiated by the evidence. <u>Snyder</u> does not imperil the legislative power of the City Council - it still places the burden on the property owner to show entitlement to relief - but when the property owner meets that burden before the LPA, his rights should not then be denied in a "politicized forum".

The City attempts to justify the City Council action by claiming that the low density residential classification was necessary to protect the integrity of the residential development across Horse Creek (shown on aerial view) (City Brief, P. 9). How by allowing a 25 foot high professional building on the subject property will it affect the "integrity" of the residential subdivision is not explained. On the multi-family parcel abutting Puma's property, and which faces Horse Creek, a 40 foot high apartment building could be erected directly across from the "endangered" subdivision.

Whether it is called an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan or a request for a change of zoning, the fact still remains that Puma has been refused the right to a commercial use of his property in an area permeated by commercial activity. The refusal of the City to allow him anything but single family residential use is grotesque.

FINAL ARGUMENT

We have not belabored this Court with copious references. We believe that the rights of property owners have too long been buffeted by "politicized forums" and that <u>Snyder</u> is a giant step toward protecting those rights. The facts in this

action vividly illustrate the need to offer some relief to a small property owner. Puma bought the subject property in 1980 for \$74,000.00 - soon thereafter approximately one-half of his property is rendered unusable by governmental "taking" without compensation (wetlands and buffer zone).

Then, when he wishes to develop the remaining land, he is given a <u>full</u> hearing before the Local Planning Agency. The Agency staff has reviewed the application - the Board hears all witnesses and makes finding of fact and a recommendation. He then appears before the City Council, who ignores the findings of the LPA and arbitrarily rejects the application. He then is compelled to seek relief in Circuit Court followed by an appeal to the District Court of Appeal and then to this Court.

May we respectfully suggest that the procedure proposed by <u>Snyder</u> would allow the owner of a specific site to seek relief without expending more than the value of the property in lengthy and costly litigation.

CONCLUSION

Since the City chose to appeal the order of the circuit court directing it to hold an evidentiary hearing and make findings of fact instead of granting the Appellee's request for rezoning, we respectfully request that the Order of April 23, 1992, and the Order of the District Court of Appeal affirming that Order be affirmed.

Respect/fully submit ped,

Ralph Gefflich Attorney for Respondent